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In an exhaustive 19-day jury trial, after 17 witnesses testified and 97 exhibits were
admitted, defendants Victor Wilkins and Aaron James Vaughn were found guilty of
human trafficking and multiple counts of pimping and pandering; some counts involved a
minor victim.

In very brief outline, a San Bernardino police officer stopped an apparent
prostitute for indecent exposure. She indicated that she was 17 years old, and that she
was walking the street with a second prostitute. She had a keycard to Room 112 in a
nearby motel. Room 112 was rented to Wilkins; he had checked in with Vaughn, who
had rented Room 109. At trial, the prostitute testified that Wilkins was her pimp, and
Vaughn was the second prostitute’s pimp. This was corroborated by text messages and
photos from the cellphones of Wilkins, Vaughn, and the prostitute. This evidence also
showed that Wilkins had pimped (or attempted to pimp) two additional prostitutes.

In this appeal, Wilkins and/or VVaughn contend:

(1) San Bernardino County was not the proper venue for some counts.

(2) The trial court erred by denying defendants’ motions for severance.

(3) The trial court erred by denying Wilkins’s motion to suppress the evidence

obtained as a result of a warrantless entry into his motel room.



(4) The trial court erred by denying defendants’ motion for a mistrial after one
prospective juror said, during voir dire, that someone found guilty of the charged crimes
should be publicly executed.

(5) There was insufficient evidence that Vaughn knew that the minor victim was
underage to support his convictions for human trafficking of a minor and pimping a
minor.

(6) The trial court abused its discretion by denying Wilkins probation and by
imposing the upper term for human trafficking of a minor.

(7) The trial court violated Penal Code section 6541 by imposing a separate and
unstayed sentences for both pimping and pandering of the same victim.

We agree that the sentences violated section 654. However, we find no other
error, or, at least, no other prejudicial error that has been preserved for appeal.
Accordingly, we will modify the sentences and we will affirm the judgments as modified.

I
STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. Testimony of Jane Doe.

Through most of 2018, Jane Doe? was 17. In March 2018, she was working as a

1 All further statutory citations are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise
indicated.
2 The minor victim was referred to below by this fictitious name. We have

not found any trial court order authorizing this. (See 8 293.5.) Nevertheless, we do the
same, to provide protective nondisclosure. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.90(b)(4).)



prostitute in Oakland. Her pimp used the moniker “DeeTee.”

Around the end of May, DeeTee became physically abusive. Around the same
time, Jane started communicating with Wilkins through Tagged (a dating app) and
Instagram. He indicated that he was a pimp. He used the moniker “Polo” or “Polo
Junky.” In the pimping subculture, “POLO” stands for “pimps only live once.”

On June 1, after DeeTee gave Jane another beating, she contacted Wilkins and met
him at a Jack in the Box in Oakland. This made it official that he was her pimp. Jane
brought along a second prostitute called Molly, whom she had met a few days earlier.

Wilkins took Jane and Molly to a Motel 6 in Oakland. He talked to them both
about working as prostitutes for him.

As a result, as we will discuss in more detail below, Jane worked for Wilkins as a
prostitute in Oakland, San Francisco, Los Angeles, and San Bernardino. He gave her
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“rules” about where to walk, how to “catch dates,” “what to allow,” and what to charge.
He supplied her with condoms. She turned all of her earnings over to him.

On the night of June 1, Wilkins drove Jane and Molly to San Francisco, where
they walked the blade.2 However, there were no customers, and there were a lot of
police.

Around 3:00 a.m. on June 2, Wilkins picked them up and drove them back to the
Motel 6. On the way, they picked up Vaughn. Vaughn used the moniker “Royal” or

“Royalty.” Wilkins introduced Vaughn as someone close, “like a cousin, [a] brother.”

3 The “blade” (or “track”) is a street frequented by prostitutes.



Wilkins said he was going to talk to Vaughn “about Molly going with [Vaughn].” Jane
understood this to mean that Wilkins and Vaughn were “partner|s].”

In the early morning of June 2, Wilkins and VVaughn dropped Jane off on the blade
in Oakland, where she worked as a prostitute until late morning. Wilkins and Vaughn
picked her up, then picked up Molly. They all went back to the Motel 6. Wilkins and
Vaughn told Jane that Vaughn was now Molly’s pimp.

Around noon on June 2, at Wilkins’s direction, the group left to go to the Los
Angeles area. They arrived around 6:00 or 7:00 p.m. They got two rooms at a motel;
Jane stayed with Wilkins, and Molly stayed with Vaughn. Wilkins and VVaughn dropped
Jane and Molly off on the blade.

On the night of June 3-4, Jane was out on the same blade again. Molly was also
out on the blade; “a handful of times,” Jane saw her get into a car. At one point, Wilkins
and Vaughn drove by to check on Jane.

While in the Los Angeles area, Jane told Molly that she wanted to leave Wilkins.
Somehow, Wilkins got wind of this. He and Vaughn confronted Jane. Wilkins told Jane,
“If [she] left him, [she] wouldn’t get nowhere.” Vaughn told Jane that Wilkins “was a
good person” who “was there for [her] best interest.”

On June 4, Wilkins decided they should all go to San Bernardino. They arrived
around noon. Wilkins and Vaughn got two rooms at the Econo Lodge. Once again, Jane
stayed with Wilkins, and Molly stayed with Vaughn. Wilkins gave Jane a keycard to

their motel room, Room 112.



The blade was nearby, so Jane walked there. She saw Molly on the blade. Jane
had not been there long when a police officer stopped her for indecent exposure, because
one of her breasts was visible through her fishnet top.

She lied to him about almost everything. She said she was 20, then said she was
18; however, she gave him a date of birth that made her 17. She said she had come down
from Antioch with “two girls.” At one point Molly walked by, and Jane pointed her out
as “the individual [she] came with.” Meanwhile, Jane saw Wilkins drive by twice. A
female officer arrived, searched Jane, and found the keycard.

At the police station, Detective Kimberly Hernandez interviewed Jane. At first,
Jane continued to lie. She identified her pimp as DeeTee and said he brought her to San
Bernardino. She denied knowing Wilkins. She identified Vaughn as another pimp she
had met in Oakland.

Eventually, however, Jane admitted that Wilkins was actually her pimp and that
she had come down with him. She had turned over to him a total of “two bands,”
meaning $2,000.

At some point, Jane overheard Wilkins and VVaughn talking about Molly giving
money to Vaughn. However, she never actually saw Molly give Vaughn any money.

Jane never told Wilkins how old she was.



B. The Police Investigation.

Via Jane’s keycard, the police located Wilkins and Vaughn at the Econo Lodge
and arrested them. “[L]arger-size” women’s clothing and shoes were found in Wilkins’s
room. “[S]maller-sized” women’s clothing was found in Vaughn’s room.

When Wilkins was booked, he was found to have $900 in cash. He had
“POLOIZM” tattooed on his hand. Vaughn had a tattoo of a crown with the words,
“Royal Majesty.” He also had an “IZM” tattoo.

When Detective Hernandez used her own phone to call the number listed in Jane’s
phone as “Daddy,” Wilkins’s phone rang and displayed Detective Hernandez’s phone
number as the caller.

C. Electronic Evidence.

Jane’s testimony was consistent with messages and photos obtained from
Wilkins’s cellphone, Vaughn’s cellphone, Jane’s cellphone, Molly’s cellphone, and
Instagram.

1. Terms used in the messages.

Police expert witnesses defined some of the terms used in these messages. A sex
buyer is called a “trick” (or “T”), a “John,” or a “date.” “Trick” and “date” can also
mean an exchange of sex for money.

A “P” is a pimp. “Izm” means an individual pimp’s pimping style. To “fuck with

you” (abbreviated “fwu”) means to be in a pimp-prostitute relationship with the other



person. A pimp calls a prostitute a “bitch”; a prostitute calls her own pimp “daddy” or
“king.”

“Trap,” as a noun, means the daily dollar quota that a pimp sets for a prostitute.
Thus, to “trap,” as a verb, means to make money. To “break” (or “brake”) means to get
money from someone; a prostitute will break a trick, and a pimp will break a prostitute.

Jane was White; Molly was Black. “Snow” means a white prostitute. “Faggot” or
“fag” means “a prostitute that’s not paying her pimp or otherwise not doing what she’s
supposed to.” “Tellys” means hotels.

Sometimes pimps work as partners, so they can split overhead expenses, such as
travel and hotel rooms; they may or may not also split their income. However, each
prostitute will work for one particular pimp.

2. The content of the messages and photos.

The text messages show that during May 2018, Wilkins was trying to recruit Jane.
He referred to himself as “[D]addy.” He said, “[I]ts our time baby let that corny shit in
the pastn letme domy job....” “[A]llineedis 1 shot....” “[U]nderstand u Queen n
have to boss up n stay bossed up.” “[J]Just make the move u wont regret it baby, get to
know sum poloizm baby.” He said he could be having “[flun” “if I was braking on you
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out here.” “[W]ell how about this u make money right you trappin n shit u in tellys n
shit.” He asked her to meet with him, adding, “[W]e worth it.” When she apologized for

wasting his time, he said, “[H]os [a]pologize with a bank role not texts.”



On May 27, 2018, Jane told him, “I’m giving up on everything. Starting new and
that’s with u.” “I’m blessed to be able to fwu . . ..” She sent him a photo of herself with
a money bag superimposed over her face.

On June 1, 2018, Wilkins said, “[M]eet me somewhere or ill pick u up.” Jane
asked, “Where,” and he said, “[M]otel 6 oakland.”

On June 1, 2018, around 6:00 p.m., Jane indicated that she was at 21st and
Shotwell, in San Francisco. She was being offered “30-40.” He replied, “[T]ell em lets
go to the bank.” “[H]and job they ass.” He ordered her, “[B]rake.” She replied, “That’s
what I’'m doin I’m getting stopped but I’'m not gonna lowball . .. .” Later, she said, “This
my last condom on me.” On June 2, 2018, around 12:30 a.m., she asked him to come and
get her; 15 minutes later, he said, “[I]m here.”

Similarly, on June 1, 2018, around 5:00 p.m., Molly reported that she was at 19th
and Shotwell. Wilkins coached her, telling here where to go and saying, “[H]ave a good
nite with u sexy ass n we out of here.” He ordered her to “brake a T.” He told her to
“meet up with snow.”

On June 2, at 4:43 a.m., Vaughn told Wilkins, “If the black bitch acting funny, let
me know let the how know you gone put her 0. Wit a gooooddd nova and I’1l work that
situation.” After that, Wilkins stopped texting Molly, and Vaughn started texting her.

On June 2, 2018, Wilkins and Vaughn booked rooms at a motel in Gardena.

Vaughn texted someone that he was “[w]it my [p]imp [p]atna.” Starting around



99 ¢

6:00 p.m., Wilkins sent messages coaching Jane: “[B]e aggressive.” “[Bleina T face u
sexy bitch u.” “[B]ust that la cherry hello.” “Watch out for SUV pig.”

Jane said she had a “[rJoom date” and needed “our room.” When Wilkins accused
her of “playing,” she said, “I’m just tryna make u money daddy I’m sorry.” He
acquiesced, saying, “[L]et me know when u park.” She reported, “He just wanna be
slapped hella hard WHAT THE FUCK.” “He’s almost done.” Later, she said, “I don’t
have anymore condoms.” This series of messages ended on June 2, 2018 around
10:30 p.m., when Wilkins asked where she was.

They began messaging again on June 3, 2018, around 11:20 a.m. Jane said she
was at 11th and Manhattan, in Los Angeles. Once again, he coached her, saying, “[D]ont
just walk baby post up wave smile . ...” Jane asked, “100 room?” Wilkins said, “[S]ay
150 130 120.” Jane replied, “I said 140 . . . he showed me 100 an said that’s all he had.”
She said, “About to pull up in a tiny ass truck.” He said, “[D]oors open baby.” She said,
“Here an thank u daddy.” He replied, “[ A]nything for my bitch.” Later, when she was
back out on the street again, Wilkins told her, “Brake with yo sexy ass.” This series of
texts ended on June 4, 2018, around 12:20 a.m.

Meanwhile, also on June 3, 2018, Vaughn texted Molly, “How much u break for?”
She said, “50.” He replied, “Knocking that shit down.” He told her, “[G]et one more

date and we out.” “Actually 360 more . . . and we gone . . ..” He ordered Molly to block

Polo on her Instagram, adding, “And block the white bitch.”
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Meanwhile, still on June 3, 2018, around 1:30 p.m., Jane texted Molly that
Wilkins had yelled at her. “I’m leaving. I’ll figure sum out. I can’t do this no more.”
Molly said, “Come with me.” “Royal I mean he’s not going to act like that.” Molly
reported to Vaughn, “He was yelling at her again.” Vaughn replied, “Imma holla at my
[p]atna tho.”

On June 4, 2018, Jane and Wilkins exchanged texts between about 10:15 a.m. and
11:15 a.m., including texts indicating that Jane had started and finished a date. Likewise,
Vaughn and Molly exchanged texts. He told her, “U my bitch.” “I fuck wit u.”

A video on Wilkins’s phone showed him with “a stack of cash”; the background
music was “P.ILM.P.,” by 50 Cent.

D.  Selena.

Texts and photos on Wilkins’s phone indicated that one Selena was a prostitute
and he was acting as her pimp. For example, he said, “[P]s suppose to have his way n hes
bitches suppose to believe in him period.” “Y’all wanna ho, but want y’all nigga not to
pimp. Sorry, fag, it don’t work like that.”

On Wilkins’s phone, there were photos of Selena, both unedited and edited (i.e.,
with superimposed writing); the phone also had an app that could be used to superimpose
writing. The edited photos had been posted in online prostitution advertisements.

Selena had a “POLOIZM” tattoo. A search of Wilkins’s car turned up clothing

belonging to Selena.
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E. Ebony.

Texts and photos on Wilkins’s phone indicated that one Ebony was a prostitute
and he was acting as her pimp. He had saved her number on his phone as “$ new,”
meaning “new money.” He told her, “be assertive be aggressive.” She replied, “No its
just that they only have 40 dollars, want me to have a room with only 60 to offer, or

they’re just passing me up for the white hoes.” He said, “[H]and jobs 4 40.” “80 to 100

for room . ...” “[S]omething is better then nothing just brake.”
F. Prior Convictions.
1. Vaughn.

In 2006, in San Joaquin County, Vaughn pleaded guilty to pandering.

In 2010, Vaughn pleaded guilty in federal court in California to four counts of sex
trafficking of a minor. (18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1).) As part of the plea, he admitted
recruiting two 14-year-olds, a 15-year-old, and a 16-year-old to work for him as
prostitutes.

In 2017, in Sonoma County, Vaughn pleaded guilty to two counts of aiding
prostitution (8 653.23, subd. (a)) and one count of second degree burglary (8 459).

This conviction arose from an incident in November 2016. Police officers arrested
a prostitute in her motel room. A consent search of her cellphone showed texts between
her and “Royal.”

When Vaughn showed up at the motel room, he was arrested. A search of his

phone showed that he identified himself as “Royal.” There were over 1,100 messages
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between him and the prostitute. These showed that he was acting as her pimp. For
example, she told him when she had a date and how much she was charging; sometimes,
he told her how much to charge. When she said she was tired and hungry, he replied,
“[G]Jo play the blade and get one more date.”

The prostitute sent Vaughn photos of herself to be used in ads. Several of these
had then been posted in her ad on Backpage.

2. Wilkins.

In 2013, in San Diego County, Wilkins pleaded guilty to conspiracy to commit
prostitution (8 182, subd. (a)(1)) and loitering with the intent to procure prostitution
(8 653.22, subd. (a)), both misdemeanors.

These convictions arose out of an incident involving a prostitute called
Problemms. Problemms testified at trial, but she was a reluctant witness. She admitted
that she was a prostitute, but she testified that Wilkins was not her pimp; he was her
boyfriend. He drove her to a hotel for date with a prospective customer; according to
Problemms, however, she told him falsely that she was going “[t]o visit a friend.” When
they arrived at the hotel, Problemms was arrested.

Texts and photos on Wilkins’s phone indicated that Problemms was a prostitute
and he was still acting as her pimp as late as January 2017. She had a tattoo that said,

“POLO wid da izm.”
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G.  The Defense.

1. Character witnesses.
a. Wilkins.

Wilkins called three character witnesses.

A friend of Wilkins’s mother testified that she had known Wilkins for four or five
years. She had never known him to be disrespectful or abusive to women.

Wilkins’s older brother testified that Wilkins was “very respectful to women.”
Wilkins was his mother’s primary caretaker, paid by the state. However, he did go away
from home for days at a time, sometimes as much as a week or two weeks, for
“gambling, poker events, Vegas.” When his mother had cancer surgery, Wilkins was
away at a poker tournament.

Wilkins had been “disrespectful” to his mother “through arguments and whatnot.”
He had gotten into “heated” arguments with her. After one such argument, the brother
phoned Wilkins and “yell[ed] and scream[ed] at him for the way he was treating [their]
mother.”

Wilkins’s mother testified that she had seen him be both respectful and
disrespectful to women. He was “helpful and caring.” He had “helped several . . .
prostitutes get off the streets.” Since 2008, he had been her state-paid care provider. He
also worked as an Uber driver. She admitted that, when she went to the hospital for

surgery, Wilkins did not go with her.

14



In texts sent in March 2018, Wilkins told his mother, “That hanging up shit is
fucking corny and stupid as fuck.” She replied that he had been “cussing” at her when
she was “trying to help.” He told her, “Leave me the fuck alone.”

In May 2018, Wilkins’s 10-year-old daughter called 911, saying “her dad was
being physical with her grandmother[.]” Wilkins “took off” before the police arrived. In
a subsequent text, his mother accused him of having pushed her. She called him “a
pathetic piece of shit”; she added, “When [you] decide to come here for your shit, bring a
police escort.”

b. Vaughn.

Vaughn called one character witness, his uncle. The uncle testified that Vaughn
worked for him, building fences and doing yard work. Vaughn also worked for others,
doing odd jobs, such as installing fiber optic lines and working on a chicken farm.

2. Wilkins’s Testimony.

Wilkins took the stand and denied being a pimp. While Jane was with him, she
engaged in prostitution on her own. However, he admitted telling her what to charge.

He denied knowing Ebony. He could not explain why he was telling her what to
charge for room dates and hand jobs.

Wilkins testified that he lived with his mother and his daughter. He was a
professional poker player. He also worked as an Uber driver and as his mother’s

caregiver.
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He wanted to be a professional rap musician. He had given live performances; he
had put out an album and a single. His work was available on Spotify, Amazon, iTunes,
YouTube, and SoundCloud. His “artist name” was “POLO Junky,” because he liked
clothing by Polo Ralph Lauren.

He specialized in “pimp-hop music.” Thus, his song lyrics referred to pimping.
As part of his self-promotion, he posted pimping-related memes. To him, “izm” meant
wisdom.

On Tagged, Jane’s listing said she was 20. She also told Wilkins that she was 20.

On June 1, 2018, Jane phoned Wilkins and said she had been beaten up. He told
her to meet him at the Jack in the Box. When he arrived, Molly was there, too. He
bought them food and brought them back to his room at a Motel 6. He was not staying at
home because he had had a fight with his mother.

The girls wanted to go to San Francisco, so he drove them there. They stopped at
a gas station, then went back to Oakland. On the way, they picked up Vaughn. They all
stayed overnight at a hotel.

Wilkins and Vaughn decided to go to Los Angeles; the girls went with them.

Then they went to San Bernardino, so Wilkins could go to a “pop-up shop” offering
discount marijuana. When the police arrived, he flushed the marijuana he had bought.

The $900 that he had when he was arrested was what was left of the $1,500 he had

gotten from his mother.
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He had prostitution ads on his cellphone, featuring Selena and Ebony, either

because the photos were sent to him or because he took screenshots of them.
1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In a jury trial, Vaughn was found guilty:

(1) With respect to Jane, of human trafficking of a minor (8 236.1, subd. (c)(1)),
with an enhancement for a prior human trafficking conviction (8 236.4, subd. (c)); and
pimping a minor 16 or older (8 266h, subd. (b)(1)).

(2) With respect to Molly, of pimping (8 266h, subd. (a)) and pandering (8 266i,
subd. (a)(1)).

Wilkins was found guilty:

(1) With respect to Jane, of human trafficking of a minor, pimping of a minor 16
or older, and pandering of a minor 16 or older (§ 266i, subd. (b)(1)).

(2) With respect to Molly, of pimping and pandering.

(3) With respect to Selena, of pandering.

(4) With respect to Ebony, of attempted pimping (88 266h, subd. (a), 664) and
pandering.

Vaughn was sentenced to a total of 19 years 8 months in prison. Wilkins was

sentenced to a total of 18 years in prison.
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i
VENUE

Defendants contend that San Bernardino County was not the proper venue for
some counts. The People respond that defendants forfeited this contention.

A. Additional Procedural Background.

The information alleged that all of the counts were committed in San Bernardino
County.

Defendants moved to set aside the information. (8 995.) In the motion, they
argued that there was insufficient evidence of certain counts. However, they also argued,
citing the general criminal venue statute (8 777), that the prosecution had introduced
insufficient evidence at the preliminary hearing that any of the crimes were committed in
San Bernardino County. The prosecution did not file an opposition.

The trial court denied the motion. Its ruling did not expressly address the venue
issue. Defendants did not file a writ petition seeking review of this ruling.

B. Forfeiture.

A California court has subject matter jurisdiction to try any crime committed in
California. (People v. Simon (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1096.) Regrettably, some
California statutes use the phrase “jurisdictional territory” to refer to venue. (E.g., 8 691,
subd. (b).) However, “““[v]enue is not jurisdictional in the fundamental sense . . ..””

[Citation.]” (People v. Peoples (2016) 62 Cal.4th 718, 791, italics omitted.)
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As a general rule, under section 777, the proper venue for trial is the county in
which the crime was committed. (See also § 691, subd. (b).) This general rule, however,
IS subject to assorted statutory exceptions.

One such exception applies to a prosecution for human trafficking, pimping or
pandering. Section 784.7, subdivision (c) provides: “If more than one violation of
Section 236.1, 266h, or 266i occurs in more than one jurisdictional territory, the
jurisdiction of any of those offenses, and for any offenses properly joinable with that
offense, is in any jurisdiction where at least one of the offenses occurred, subject to a
hearing pursuant to Section 954 . ... At the Section 954 hearing, the prosecution shall
present written evidence that all district attorneys in counties with jurisdiction of the
offenses agree to the venue. Charged offenses from jurisdictions where there is not a
written agreement from the district attorney shall be returned to that jurisdiction.”

“‘[A] defendant . . . forfeits a claim of improper venue when he or she fails
specifically to raise such an objection prior to the commencement of trial.” [Citation.]”
(People v. Posey (2004) 32 Cal.4th 193, 200.)

“[I]n felony proceedings a claim of improper venue properly may be raised by
demurrer (if the defect in venue appears on the face of the accusatory pleading), by a
challenge to venue specifically raised before the magistrate at the preliminary hearing, or
by a motion under section 995 challenging the validity of an indictment or information.

[Citations.]” (People v. Simon, supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 1106-1107.)
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Here, defendants specifically raised an improper venue claim in their section 995
motion. The People fault the motion because it cited only section 777; it did not cite
section 784.7, and it did not argue that section 784.7 did not apply. The information,
however, alleged — evidently pursuant to section 777 — that each crime was committed
in San Bernardino County. Defendants quite properly argued that the evidence at the
preliminary hearing did not support these allegations. “The prosecution has the burden of
proving the facts supporting venue by a preponderance of the evidence . ...’ [Citation.]”
(People v. Thomas (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1276, 1283.) Defendants had no burden other than
to raise the issue and put the prosecution to its proof.

The People also argue that defendants forfeited the issue by failing to file a prompt
writ petition.

Certainly defendants could have filed a writ petition. They could readily have
shown that an appeal would not be an adequate remedy, because it would bring them
relief, if at all, only after the anxiety, effort, and expense of a trial that would then have to
be repeated elsewhere. However, this does not mean that they had to file a writ petition.

As a general rule, the erroneous denial of a section 995 motion can be raised by
way of a writ petition. (§ 999a.) As here, an appeal is not an adequate remedy, because
it is available only after the defendant has endured a potentially improper trial.
Nevertheless, the issue can also be raised on appeal. (People v. Flores (1974) 12 Cal.3d

85, 89, fn. 2.)
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Similarly, an order denying a change of venue can be challenged in either a
pretrial writ proceeding or a posttrial appeal, at the defendant’s option. (People v.
Tidwell (1970) 3 Cal.3d 62, 68 [“defendant’s failure to seek review by mandate prior to
his trial in no way limits his right to relief” on appeal].) This is true even though a writ
petition is the only way to prevent the trial from occurring in the wrong place.

The People cite People v. Betts (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1039, which held that whether a
California court has subject matter jurisdiction to try a crime committed, at least in part,
in another state must be raised before trial. (Id. at pp. 1046-1054.) As relevant here, it
said: ““...Ifonly a jury could determine subject matter jurisdiction, a defendant would
always be put through the expense, anxiety, and uncertainty of a trial and the only
mechanism to challenge jurisdiction would be an appeal after the conclusion of trial.” By
contrast, if the issue can be resolved by the court before trial, the defendant will have the
opportunity to seek immediate review through a writ proceeding.” (ld. at pp. 1051-1052,
italics added.)

Betts does not apply here directly, because it involved subject matter jurisdiction
rather than venue (although it recognized that the two can be analogous, People v. Betts,
supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1051). More to the point, however, it did not say that the
defendant could seek review only through a writ petition. It merely said a defendant has
“the opportunity” to seek review through a writ petition, and will typically prefer to do

SO.
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People v. Simon, supra, 25 Cal.4th 1082 provides somewhat stronger support for
the People’s position. There, the Supreme Court held that an objection to venue must be
raised before trial. (Id. at pp. 1107-1108.) It explained — in part — that “the right to be
tried in a statutorily designated venue is intended, from the perspective of an accused, as
a safeguard against being required to stand trial in an unrelated and potentially
burdensome distant location. This protection can be meaningfully afforded to a
defendant only if he or she objects to venue before being required to proceed to trial in
the allegedly improper locale. If a defendant’s timely challenge to venue is sustained, the
trial can be conducted in the proper location, before the parties, the witnesses, and the
court have incurred the burden and expense of a trial in an unauthorized venue.” (ld. at
pp. 1103-1104.)

It is arguable that, for the same reasons, the denial of an objection to venue must
be reviewed, if at all, before trial. However, that argument is flawed. The fact that a
pretrial objection to venue is necessary to prevent a trial in the wrong place was not the
only reason the Supreme Court gave for its holding in Simon. It also noted that: (1) in
analogous situations — i.e., misdemeanor prosecutions and civil actions — there are
statutes that require an objection to venue to be made before trial (People v. Simon,
supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 1101-1103); and (2) allowing the defendant to object to venue
during trial or for the first time on appeal would enable “‘sandbagging.”” (Id. at p. 1004.)

There are no similar concerns here. As already discussed, in analogous situations

— the denial of a section 995 motion or the denial of a motion to change venue — a writ
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petition is not required. Moreover, under Simon itself, the defendant is required to object
to venue before trial. Thus, no sandbagging is possible; if, as here, the prosecution insists
on going to trial in the challenged venue, it knowingly takes the risk that the conviction
may be reversed on appeal as a result.

We therefore conclude that defendants have not forfeited their contention that the
venue for most counts was improper.

C. Prejudice.

The fact that defendants have raised their venue challenge on appeal, rather than
by writ, does have one crucial consequence. If they had raised the issue by writ, they
would not have had to show prejudice. Because they raised it on appeal, however, they
must. (See People v. Mena (2012) 54 Cal.4th 146, 156 [erroneous denial of motion to
suppress must be shown to be prejudicial if raised on appeal, though not if by writ];
People v. Vasquez (2006) 39 Cal.4th 47, 68-69 [erroneous denial of motion to recuse
prosecutor must be shown to be prejudicial if raised on appeal, though not if by writ];
People v. Epps (2001) 25 Cal.4th 19, 30 [erroneous denial of a jury trial must be shown
to be prejudicial if raised on appeal, though not if by writ]; People v. Martinez (2000) 22
Cal.4th 750, 769 [erroneous denial of motion to dismiss based on violation of statutory
right to a speedy trial must be shown to be prejudicial if raised on appeal, though not if
by writ]; People v. Williams (1989) 48 Cal.3d 1112, 1125-1126 [erroneous denial of
motion for change of venue must be shown to be prejudicial if raised on appeal, though

not if by writ]; see generally Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; § 1258.)
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Defendants assert that a judgment entered in the wrong venue is “void.” Not so.
As already noted, the Supreme Court has held that venue is not jurisdictional in the
fundamental sense. Defendants cite People v. Betts, supra, 34 Cal.4th 1039. We repeat,
however, that Betts dealt with subject matter jurisdiction, not venue. They also cite
Taliaferro v. County of Contra Costa (1960) 182 Cal.App.2d 587. However, the only
discussion of voidness in that case related to the limited jurisdiction of municipal courts.
(1d. at p. 591.) If it could be read any more broadly, it would conflict with the Supreme
Court’s subsequent holdings.

Accordingly, defendants must show that holding the trial in an improper venue
was prejudicial under the state constitutional harmless error standard — i.e., that it is
reasonably probable that, in the absence of the error, they would have enjoyed a more
favorable result. (People v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.) This they cannot do.
The mere fact that they were tried in the wrong place is not necessarily prejudicial.
Indeed, as they argue that the charged acts took place in some six or seven different
counties, arguably they benefited from having all of the counts tried in one place.

Defendants therefore assert that a trial in an improper venue violates their federal
constitutional rights under the vicinage clause of the Sixth Amendment. Apparently their
point is that the error is subject to the higher, “beyond a reasonable doubt” federal
harmless error standard.

We may assume, without deciding, that defendants’ venue objection was sufficient

to preserve their present vicinage contention. Even if so, our Supreme Court has held
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that the federal vicinage clause does not apply to the states. (Price v. Superior Court
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1065.) And, as defendants concede, the United States Supreme
Court has never held otherwise.

Defendants protest that “the rule of stare decisis only applies where a state statute
or provision of the state Constitution is at issue.” Again, not so. “[I]n the absence of a
subsequent contrary decision of the United States Supreme Court, we are bound by the
California Supreme Court’s holding on [an] issue of federal law . . ..” (Tanguilig v.
Bloomingdale’s, Inc. (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 665, 673.)

While there is a corresponding vicinage right under the state Constitution (Cal.
Const., art. I, 8 16; People v. Hill (1992) 3 Cal.4th 959, 984, overruled on other grounds
in Price v. Superior Court, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1069, fn. 13), the violation of a state
constitutional right does not require reversal unless the defendant can show prejudice.
(Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.) As already discussed, defendants cannot.

Finally, defendants argue that the prosecution’s violation of the venue statutes —
and, in particular, its failure to comply with the procedural requirements of section 784.7
— necessarily violated due process. However, a “‘mere error of state law’ is not a denial
of due process. [Citation.] If the contrary were true, then ‘every erroneous decision by a
state court on state law would come [the United States Supreme Court] as a federal
constitutional question.’ [Citations.]” (Engle v. Isaac (1982) 456 U.S. 107, 121, fn. 21.)
As defendants cannot even show prejudice, a fortiori they cannot show that the trial was

fundamentally unfair so as to violate due process.
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v
SEVERANCE

Defendants contend that the trial court erred by denying their motions for
severance.

A. Additional Factual and Procedural Background.

Before the preliminary hearing, Wilkins filed a motion to sever his trial from
Vaughn’s. He argued that that Vaughn had a “disreputable character,” as would be
shown by his prior “bad acts” and prior convictions.

Before trial, Wilkins filed a motion in limine renewing his motion to sever.* He
argued that he and Vaughn had antagonistic defenses, in that each would point the finger
at the other. He also argued, again, that he would be prejudiced by evidence of Vaughn’s
prior “bad acts” and prior convictions.?

Vaughn joined in Wilkins’s motion in limine, though he did not explain how he

would be prejudiced by joinder.

4 Wilkins asserts that this motion was “based on testimony at the preliminary
hearing.” However, it did not discuss any of that testimony, and Wilkins’s counsel did
not ask the trial court to review the preliminary hearing transcript.

5 Wilkins also argued that severance was necessary because otherwise,
Vaughn’s out-of-court statements would be introduced at his trial, in violation of the
confrontation clause, as construed in Bruton v. United States (1968) 391 U.S. 123, 137.
He does not repeat this argument on appeal. It lacks merit. Vaughn’s out-of-court
statements were not testimonial. Therefore, their admission could not violate the
confrontation clause. (People v. Almeda (2018) 19 Cal.App.5th 346, 362-363.)
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The trial court denied the motion. It said: “We have identical crimes. We have
nearly identical priors.” “[B]oth defendants have very strong, in fact, overwhelming
evidence against them independently such that I think it is not to have a spillover effect
on the codefendant.” “Additionally, we are talking about a single course of conduct in
this case. Jane Doe is the same Jane Doe for both defendants. The streets, the city, the
date, the time, the place, the travel, to and from the bay area, those are all identical facts
with identical witnesses.”

At trial, before the evidence of Vaughn’s prior convictions was introduced, the
trial court instructed the jury: “There are going to be some things in this trial that only
apply to one defendant and not the other. This is one of those instances. . .. Things that
are specific to one defendant cannot be used in your deliberations in any way towards
another defendant, unless you are specifically told that it does.”

Similarly, throughout the trial, whenever defendants so requested, the trial court
instructed the jury that certain evidence was to be considered only against one or the
other defendant.

At the end of the trial, the trial court instructed:

“You must separately consider the evidence as it relates to each defendant.”
(CALCRIM No. 203.)

“I instructed you during the trial that certain evidence was admitted only against a
certain defendant. You must not consider that evidence against any other defendant.”

(CALCRIM No. 304.)
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“The People presented evidence that defendant Wilkins committed other offenses
of pimping, pandering, and loitering to commit prostitution that were not charged in this
case.

“The People presented evidence that defendant Vaughn committed other offenses
of sex trafficking of children, pimping, pandering, and aiding prostitution that were not
charged in this case.

“You may consider this evidence only against the particular defendant associated
with the prior offenses . ...” (CALCRIM No. 375.)

It added that the jury could consider these other offenses only with regard to
intent, motive, knowledge, and absence of mistake or accident.

B. Discussion.

1. Legal background.

Section 1098 provides, in part: “When two or more defendants are jointly charged
with any public offense, whether felony or misdemeanor, they must be tried jointly,
unless the court order separate trials.”

“This provision indicates the Legislature’s ‘strong preference for joint trials.’
[Citation.]” (People v. Beck and Cruz (2019) 8 Cal.5th 548, 596.) “‘Joint trials “play a

299

vital role in the criminal justice system™’ because they ‘promote efficiency and “serve the
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interests of justice by avoiding the scandal and inequity of inconsistent verdicts.

[Citation.]” (lbid.) ““... Joint trial may enable a jury “to arrive more reliably at its
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conclusions regarding the guilt or innocence of a particular defendant. . . .”” [Citations.]”
(Ibid.)
“‘When defendants are charged with having committed “common crimes

(139

involving common events and victims,” as here, the court is presented with a ““classic
case’” for a joint trial.” [Citation.]” (People v. Daveggio and Michaud (2018) 4 Cal.5th
790, 819.)

“[W]hen defendants are properly joined, severance should be granted ‘only if there
Is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the
defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or
innocence.” [Citations.]” (People v. Beck and Cruz, supra, 8 Cal.5th at p. 596.)

““We review a trial court’s denial of a severance motion for abuse of discretion
based on the facts as they appeared at the time the court ruled on the motion.” [Citation.]
(People v. Silveria and Travis (2020) 10 Cal.5th 195, 242.) “Denial of a motion for
severance amounts to a prejudicial abuse of discretion if the trial court’s ruling falls
outside the bounds of reason. [Citation.]” (People v. Hartsch (2010) 49 Cal.4th 472,
493.)

[E]ven if a trial court’s severance or joinder ruling is correct at the time it was

made, a reviewing court must reverse the judgment if the “defendant shows that joinder
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actually resulted in ‘gross unfairness’ amounting to a denial of due process.””
[Citation.]” (People v. Gomez (2018) 6 Cal.5th 243, 274.)%
2. Wilkins s arguments.

Wilkins argues, as he did below, that the evidence of Vaughn’s prior convictions
was prejudicial as to him. The trial court could reasonably find no serious risk of
substantial prejudice, for three reasons. First, Wilkins had a prostitution-related prior
conviction of his own. He argues that Vaughn’s prior conviction for sex trafficking of a
minor was particularly prejudicial, because it was the same as the most serious offense
charged in this case. Nevertheless, on this record, which showed overwhelmingly that
Wilkins committed pimping, pandering, and human trafficking of Jane, who was a
minor,” there is no reason to suppose that the fact that VVaughn had a more serious prior
conviction than Wilkins affected the verdict.

Second, to the extent that Vaughn’s criminal record was more serious, that could
cut both ways. It could be argued that it made Wilkins look less dangerous, less

blameworthy, and/or less in control of their joint criminal enterprise than Vaughn.

6 We question the wisdom of this rule. It would seem that, if a defendant
believes it has become apparent during trial that joinder has become prejudicial, that
defendant should be required to make a motion for a mistrial. That way, the trial court
can be given an opportunity to evaluate the claim, in the context of its observations, and,
If it agrees, to grant a mistrial and obviate the necessity of an appeal.

Our Supreme Court has spoken, however, and we must obey.

! When Wilkins committed pandering of Selena, she was 17. Thus, the
evidence showed that he had committed human trafficking of a minor as to her, too,
although he was not charged with it.
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Third, the trial court instructed the jury to consider Vaughn’s prior convictions
solely with respect to Vaughn. “We presume the jury understood and followed these
instructions. [Citation.]” (People v. Hajek and Vo (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1144, 1178,
disapproved on other grounds in People v. Rangel (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1192, 1216.) We
see no reason why the jury would not have been able to do so here. Such “limiting
instructions . . . ““often will suffice to cure any risk of prejudice.”” [Citation.]” (People
v. Silveria and Travis, supra, 10 Cal.5th at p. 243.)

Wilkins also argues that the case against him was weak: Jane had admittedly told
some lies to the police, and evidently she had “an odd demeanor” on the stand; Molly,
Selena, and Ebony did not testify; and the numerous texts were supposedly “incoherent.”
We could not disagree more. The evidence against Wilkins was overwhelming,
especially because so much of it came from his own cellphone. The prosecution walked
the jury slowly and methodically through the texts and photos (including photos of
Molly, Selena, and Ebony) on the cellphone. Largely, the texts and photos spoke for
themselves; nevertheless, police expert witnesses explained them, just in case. On this
record, it is inconceivable that Vaughn’s prior convictions had any influence whatsoever
on the jury’s verdicts against Wilkins.

3. Vaughn'’s arguments.

Although Vaughn joined in Wilkins’s motion to sever, he did not explain how, in

his view, he would be prejudiced by joinder. (Cf. People v. Nero (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th

504, 510 [party who joins in another party’s appellate brief must separately demonstrate
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error and prejudice].) At that point, Wilkins was arguing that he would be prejudiced by
a joint trial with Vaughn. It was not immediately apparent why the reverse might be true.
Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion with
respect to Vaughn.

Having made the motion, however, Vaughn can still argue that, in hindsight,
joinder resulted in gross unfairness amounting to a denial of due process.

Vaughn notes that Wilkins was charged in three counts with crimes against two
additional victims, Selena and Ebony, and therefore the jury heard evidence of these
additional offenses. Precisely because VVaughn was not charged with those crimes,
however, and was not shown to have been involved in them, this evidence was not
prejudicial. If anything, it tended to show that, at least sometimes, Wilkins operated
independently of Vaughn and they were not “pimp partners.”

Vaughn claims that the trial court did not give a limiting instruction regarding the
evidence involving Selena and Ebony. That is incorrect. It instructed: “You must
separately consider the evidence as it relates to each defendant.” (CALCRIM No. 203.)
If Vaughn wanted an instruction specifically tailored to the evidence involving Selena
and Ebony, he could have requested one. His failure to do so suggests he did not think
the instruction was inadequate and did not think that the evidence prejudiced him.

Vaughn also notes that the jury heard about Wilkins’s prior conviction. As
Wilkins argues, however (see part IVV.B.2, ante), Vaughn himself had more and worse

prior convictions.
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Next, Vaughn notes, there was evidence showing Wilkins’s bad character.
Wilkins had written rap lyrics that revolved around pimping, prostitution, and violence.
When Wilkins’s mother testified as a character witness, the prosecutor introduced
evidence that he verbally abused her and pushed her. There was also evidence that
Wilkins knocked out two of Selena’s teeth (although it was an accident, he felt bad about
it, and he tried to arrange dental care for her).

In the context of the overall trial, this evidence was little more than a blip. These
three incidents were not even significant enough for defendants (or the prosecution) to
mention them in their statements of facts on appeal. Given the massive evidence that
both Wilkins and VVaughn actually were pimps, they would not have loomed large in the
jury’s mind.

Finally, Vaughn points out that Wilkins made a poor showing on the stand
especially on cross-examination. He persisted in denying that he was a pimp, despite
massive evidence that he was. The trial court observed, for the record, that when his rap
music was played, Wilkins was “dancing, bobbing his head, singing along, smiling,
trying to make eye contact with everyone as if he were performing.” The trial court
found this “wholly, wholly, inappropriate, disrespectful, a complete mockery of the
justice system as a whole